
ADDENDUM NO. 1 
TO 

CITY OF AUBURN, MAINE 
LAKE STREET ROADWAY RECONSTRUCTION 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES 
November 28, 2016 

 
This addendum amends and /or supplements the bid documents as indicated below.  Only 
these items alter the Bid Documents.  Any verbal discussions or responses are hereby 
declared null and void.   
 
Clarifications to the Bid Documents:   
The following changes have been made to the Bid Documents:  
 
Question:  What does the City envision for Right-of-Way acquisition 
services? 
 
Answer:  The City is looking for the Right-of-Way to be located on 
construction plans.  Any acquisition services by the Consultant would be 
considered separate from this proposal. 
 
Question:  Will there be a need for environmental permitting? 
 
Answer:  Environmental permitting will not be required for this proposal. 
 
Question:  Will construction administration be required by the consultant? 
 
Answer:  No, it is the intent of the City to provide these services. 
 
Question:  Can you describe the technical proposal that the selected firm will 
provide after the interview process and how that differs from the response to 
the RFP? 
 
Answer:  There will be no interview process and therefore the technical 
submittal will not be required. 
 
Question:  What is the programmed fee for the Lake Street Reconstruction 
project? 
 
Answer:  The estimated construction cost for the project is $1.3mil. 
 



Question:  Are any utility upgrades anticipated? 
 
Answer:  Water and sewer have been upgraded.  The stormwater system will 
need to be upgraded as part of this project. 
 
Question:  Is the Consultant required to comply with MDOT’s general 
conditions? 
 
Answer:  No.  See attached Sample Agreement for contract and insurance 
requirements. 
 
Question:  Is this a MDOT funded LPA project? 
 
Answer:  No, this project is fully funded by municipal funds (CIP). 
 
Question:  Is the City considering any reconfiguration of the intersections 
with Court Street and Gamage Avenue? 
 
Answer:  The City anticipates the same layout as existing at those 
intersections. 
 
Question:  Is the City considering relocating the sidewalk locations? 
 
Answer:  The sidewalks will remain in their approximate locations with the 
exception of lengthening the North-easterly side to the last house before the 
sharp corner. 
 
Question:  Is the City looking for relocation of the sidewalk on the south 
side of the road near Bourbon Street and retaining wall design for the 
properties there? 
 
Answer:  The intent is to avoid construction of retaining walls in that 
location. 
 
Question:  Does the City anticipate a certain number of public meetings to 
be included in the proposal? 
 
Answer:  The City anticipates one pubic meeting for this project. 
 
 



 
 
Question:  Will the scope for reconstruction of the roadway include 
widening and relocation of significant utilities? 
 
Answer:  The new roadway layout will basically follow existing with minor 
changes.  The intent is to use some of the newer stormwater drainage 
features, otherwise the City requires new. 
 
Question:  What level of subsurface investigations will the City require 
during the data gathering stage? 
 
Answer:  Test borings and test pits will not be required for data gathering. 
 
Other relevant information: 
 

• The City anticipates construction for this project to begin by May 1, 
2017.  Therefore, the bidding process will need to commence by April 
1, 2017. 

• Associated project documents can be found under the bid notice on 
the City’s website. 

• As requested, a list of firms intending to submit proposals: 
 

Main-Land Development Consultants, Inc. 
Stantec 
Milone & MacBroom 
Sevee & Maher Engineers, Inc. 
Gorrill Palmer 
Walsh Engineering Associates, Inc. 
HEB Engineers, Inc. 
CES, Inc. 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 



 
 

SAMPLE AGREEMENT 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made this ### day of  Month Year, by and between the CITY OF 
AUBURN, a municipal corporation existing under the laws of the State of Maine and 
located in the County of Androscoggin, State of Maine (hereinafter "CITY"), Company 
Name, Address, EIN,  (hereinafter "CONTRACTOR"),  
 
WITNESSETH: 
In consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions contained herein, the CITY and 
the CONTRACTOR agree as follows: 
 
SPECIFICATIONS: 
 
1. The CONTRACTOR shall furnish all of the material and perform all of the work 
shown on the drawings and described in the specifications entitled:  Bid # XXXXX Bid 
Title 
 which are attached hereto and made a part hereof, and the CONTRACTOR covenants 
that it shall do everything required by this Agreement, the Special Provisions of the 
Agreement, the Invitation to Bid and the Specifications in return for payment as provided 
herein. 
 
COMPLETION DATE: 
 
2. The work to be performed under this Agreement shall be commenced by Month day, 
year and fully completed on or before Month day, year.  
  
CONTRACT PRICE: 
 
3. The CITY shall pay the CONTRACTOR for the performance of the Agreement the 
sum of $XXX 
 
 
PERFORMANCE BOND:  
 
4. If required by the City, the CONTRACTOR shall furnish to the CITY at the time of 
the execution of this Agreement a performance bond and a labor and material payment 
bond each in the amount of  $Dollar amount or N/A (whichever applies) executed by a 
surety company satisfactory to the CITY, guaranteeing the performance and payment by 
the CONTRACTOR.  Yes, Required (Initials: ____)   No, Waived (Initials ___) 
  
GUARANTEE: 
 



5.The CONTRACTOR shall guarantee his work against any defects in workmanship and 
materials for a period of one year from the date of the CITY’s written acceptance of the 
project. 
 
 
 
PERMITS AND LICENSES: 
 
6.  Permits and licenses necessary for the prosecution of the work shall be secured and 
paid by the CONTRACTOR. 
 
CITY’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE CONTRACT: 
 
7. If the CONTRACTOR should be adjudged a bankrupt, or if it should make a general 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or if a receiver should be appointed on account of 
its insolvency, or if it should persistently or repeatedly refuse or should fail, except in 
cases for which extension of time is provided, to supply enough properly skilled 
workmen or proper materials, or if it should fail to make prompt payment to 
subcontractors or for material or labor, or persistently disregard laws, and ordinances, or 
otherwise be guilty of a substantial violation of any provision of the Agreement, then the 
CITY when sufficient cause exists to justify such action, may, without prejudice to any 
other right or remedy and after giving the CONTRACTOR, and his surety, seven (7) days 
written notice, terminate the employment of the CONTRACTOR and take possession of 
the premises and of all materials, tools and appliances thereon and finish the work by 
whatever method it may deem expedient. In such case the CONTRACTOR shall not be 
entitled to receive any further payment until the work is finished. If the unpaid balance of 
the Agreement price shall exceed the expense of the finishing the work, including 
compensation for additional architectural, managerial and administrative services, such 
excess shall be paid to the CONTRACTOR. If such expense shall exceed such unpaid 
balance, the CONTRACTOR shall pay the difference to the CITY. 
 
CONTRACTOR’S LIABILITY INSURANCE: 
 
8.The CONTRACTOR shall not commence work under this Agreement until he has 
obtained all insurance required under this paragraph and such insurance has been 
approved by the CITY, nor shall the CONTRACTOR allow any subcontractor to 
commence work on his subcontract until all similar insurance required of subcontractor 
has been so obtained and approved.  It is a requirement that the CITY be named as an 
Additional Insured on the General Liability and Automobile Liability policies.  
  
 Commercial General Liability to include products and completed operations, and blanket 
contractual. The limits of liability shall be as follows: 
 
      Bodily Injury and Property Damage   $1,000,000 
      Personal Injury and Advertising Injury   $1,000,000 
      Per Project Aggregate     $1,000,000 



      General Aggregate     $2,000,000 
      Products and Completed Operations Aggregate  $2,000,000 
      Medical Payments                         $10,000 
 
 
 
 
(b)  Business Automobile Liability 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and cause all sub-contractors and lower tier 
contractors to maintain business automobile liability insurance covering all owned non-
owned, leased, rented or hired automobiles (symbol 1). The limits of liability shall be as 
follows: 
 
      Bodily Injury and Property Damage   $1,000,000 
 
Automobile physical damage coverage shall be at the option of the CONTRACTOR, all 
sub-contractors and lower tier contractors. The CITY shall not be liable for physical loss 
or damage to any owned, non-owned, leased, rented or hired automobile. 
 
 Workers' Compensation Insurance  
 
The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and cause all sub-contractors and lower tier 
contractor’s to maintain Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability in accordance 
with the laws and regulations of the State of Maine. The limits of liability provided shall 
be as follows:  
 
      Coverage A:        Statutory 
      Coverage B:        $100,000/$500,000/$100,000 
 
 Professional Liability  
 
If the CONTRACTOR is an Architect, Engineer or Surveyor, they shall maintain a policy 
of insurance to pay  on  their behalf whatever amounts that may become legally required 
to pay on account of an error, omission or  negligent act. 
 
 Limits of Liability shall be as follows: 
 
    $1,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate site specific. 
 
 It is a requirement that this policy be maintained for a period of three (3) years following 
completion of the project. 
 
Certificates of Insurance of the types and in the amounts required shall be delivered to the 
CITY prior to the commencement of any work by the CONTRACTOR, subcontractor or 
lower tier contractor or any person or entity working at the direction or under control of 



the CONTRACTOR. The CONTRACTOR shall assume the obligation and responsibility 
to confirm insurance coverage for all sub-contractors or lower tier contractors who will 
participate in the project. 
 
The Certificate of Insurance and the policies of insurance shall include a sixty (60) day 
notice to the CITY of cancellation, non-renewal or material change in coverage or form. 
 
The CONTRACTOR and his surety shall indemnify and save harmless the CITY, his 
officers and employees from all suits, actions or claims of any character brought because 
of any injuries or damage received or sustained by any person, persons or property on 
account of the operations of the said CONTRACTOR; or on account of or in 
consequence of any neglect in safeguarding the work; or through use of unacceptable 
materials in construction of the work; or because of any act or omission, neglect, or 
misconduct of said CONTRACTOR; or because of any claims or amounts recovered 
from any infringements or patent trademark, or copyright; or from any claims or amounts 
arising or recovered under the “Workmen’s Compensation Act” or of any other law, 
ordinance, order or decree; and so much of the money due to the said CONTRACTOR 
under and by virtue of his/her contract as shall be considered necessary by the CITY for 
such purpose, may be retained; or in case no money is due, his surety may be held until 
such suit or suits, action or actions, claim or claims, for injuries or damages as  aforesaid 
shall have been settled and suitable evidence to that effect furnished to the CITY. 
 
Waiver of Subrogation 
 
Payment of any claim or suit including any expenses incurred in connection therewith by 
the CITY, or any insurance company on behalf of the CITY shall not constitute a waiver 
of subrogation against the CONTRACTOR, sub-contractors or any lower tier contractor 
in the event that such claim or suit was caused by or contributed to as a result of the 
negligent acts of the CONTRACTOR, any sub-contractors or lower tier contractors. 
 
Construction Agreement 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall and does hereby agree to indemnify, save harmless and 
defend the CITY from the payment of any sum or sums of money to any person 
whomsoever on account of claims or suits growing out of injuries to persons, including 
death, or damages to property, caused by the CONTRACTOR, his employees, agents or 
sub-contractors or in any way attributable to the performance and execution of the work 
herein contracted for, including (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing), all 
claims for service, labor performed, materials furnished, provisions and suppliers, injuries 
to persons or damage to property, liens, garnishments, attachments, claims, suits, costs, 
attorney’s fees, costs of investigation and     defense. It is the intention of this paragraph 
to hold the CONTRACTOR responsible for the payment of any and all claims, suits, or 
liens, of any nature character in any way attributable to or asserted against the CITY, or 
the CITY and the CONTRACTOR, which the City may be required to pay. In the event 
the liability of the CONTRACTOR shall arise by reason of the sole negligence of the 



CITY and/or the sole negligence of the CITY’s  agents, servants or employees, then and 
only then, the CONTRACTOR shall  not be liable under the provisions of this paragraph. 
      
DAMAGES: 
 
9.The CONTRACTOR shall defend, indemnify and save harmless the CITY and all 
persons acting for or in behalf of it against all claims for injuries (including death), loss 
or damage, arising out of the performance out this contract. 
 
 
 
LIENS: 
 
10.Neither the final payment nor any part of the retained percentage shall become due 
until the CONTRACTOR, if required, shall deliver to the CITY a complete release of all 
liens arising out of the Agreement, or receipts in full in lieu thereof and, if required in 
either case, an affidavit that so far as it has knowledge or information the releases and 
receipts include all the labor and material for which a lien could be filed; but the 
CONTRACTOR may, if any SUB-CONTRACTOR refuses to furnish a release or receipt 
in full, furnish a bond satisfactory to the CITY to indemnify it against any lien. If any lien 
remains unsatisfied after all payment are made, the CONTRACTOR shall refund to the 
CITY all moneys that the latter may be compelled to pay in discharging such a lien, 
including all costs and a reasonable attorney's fee. 
  
ASSIGNMENT: 
 
11. Neither party to the Agreement shall assign the Agreement or sublet it as a whole 
without the written consent of the other, nor shall the CONTRACTOR assign any 
moneys due or to become due to it hereunder, without the previous written consent of the 
CITY. 
  
SUBCONTRACTS: 
 
12.  The CONTRACTOR shall not sublet any part of this Agreement without the written 
permission of the CITY. The CONTRACTOR agrees that it is as fully responsible to the 
CITY for the acts and omissions of its SUB-CONTRACTORS and of persons either 
directly or indirectly employed by them, as it is for the acts and omissions of persons 
directly employed by it. 
 



USE OF PREMISES: 
 
13.The CONTRACTOR shall confine its apparatus, the storage of materials and 
operations of its workers to limits indicated by law, ordinance and permits and shall not 
otherwise unreasonably encumber the premises with its materials. If any part of the 
project is completed and ready for use, the CITY may, by written and mutual consent, 
without prejudice to any of its rights or the rights of the CONTRACTOR, enter in and 
make use of such completed parts of the project. Such use or occupancy shall in no case 
be construed as an acceptance of any work or materials. 
  
CLEANING UP: 
 
14.  The CONTRACTOR shall at all times keep the premises free from accumulation of 
waste materials or rubbish caused by its employees or work, and at the completion of the 
work it shall remove all its rubbish from and about the project, and all its tools, 
scaffolding and surplus materials and shall leave its work "broom-clean" or its 
equivalent, unless more exactly specified. In case of dispute, the CITY may remove the 
rubbish and charge the cost to the CONTRACTOR. 
 
PAYMENTS: 
 
15. Unless otherwise agreed to, the CITY shall make payments on account of the 
Agreement as follows: 
  
Within 30 days, as invoices are submitted for work completed to the satisfaction of the 
CITY. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day 
and year first above written. 
  
 
 
 
BY:______________________________ BY:________________________________ 
                            Witness     Finance Director          
                                                                              
 
BY:______________________________  BY:_________________________________  
                            Witness           Contractor 
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